IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 66,937

THE CELOTEX CORPORATION, et al.,)	F SID J. WHITE
Petitioners,)	JUN 20 1985
v.	,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
CARMELLA MEEHAN, as Personal)	By. Chief Deputy Clerk
Representative of the Estate of Charles Meehan,)	
,)	
Respondent.	_)	

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION CERTIFIED BY THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT
AS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER GAF CORPORATION

THOMSON ZEDER BOHRER WERTH
ADORNO & RAZOOK
Parker D. Thomson
Jon W. Zeder
Gary M. Held
4900 Southeast Financial Center
200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-2363
(305) 350-7200

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the Court on a certified question from the District Court of Appeal, Third District (App. 1). The question asks for the correct interpretation of Florida's Borrowing Statute, which provides:

95.10 Causes of action arising out of the State -- When the cause of action arose in another state or territory of the United States, or in a foreign country, and its laws forbid the maintenance of the action because of lapse of time, no action shall be maintained in this state.

Section 95.10, Fla. Stat. (1979).

This case and its parallel, <u>Nance v. Johns-Manville</u>
<u>Sales Corp.</u>, 466 So.2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. granted</u>,
No. 66,938 (Fla. April 29, 1985) ("<u>Nance</u>") (App. 10), involve
the application of Florida's Borrowing Statute to asbestos
cases which arose out of the state and which would have been
barred under the foreign state's statute of limitations.

The Dade County Circuit Court on August 27, 1981 granted Final Summary Judgment in favor of all Defendants (the "Summary Judgment") on the ground that all claims were time barred by Florida's Borrowing Statute (R. 1130). $\frac{1}{}$ Plaintiff's motion for rehearing filed September 4, 1981 (R. 1211) was denied December 28, 1982 (R. 1331-33).

^{1/} Citations to the Record on Appeal shall be indicated parenthetically by the letter "R." followed by the page number, <u>e.g.</u>, (R. 100). Citations to the Appendix are indicated parenthetically by "App." followed by the page number, <u>e.g.</u>, (App. 10). In advance of receipt of the actual Record Index, the docket from the court file at the Third District was used as the basis for page references.

On appeal, the Third District issued its Original Opinion on November 15, 1983, Meehan v. The Celotex Corporation, So.2d , 8 F.L.W. 2728 (Fla. 3rd DCA (1983), withdrawn, 466 So.2d 1100, 1101 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 5, 1985) (App. 14), reversing the Summary Judgment because it felt there was nothing in the record to indicate whether Meehan knew or should have known of the existence of his cause of action more than four years prior to the institution of this suit, and remanding for further proceedings. 8 F.L.W. at 2728. In its Original Opinion the Third District distinguished Marano v. The Celotex Corp., 433 So.2d 592 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 438 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1983), which had upheld an application of Section 95.10 to bar a comparable asbestos claim, finding "no error in the trial court's awarding the defendants a summary judgment and applying the Florida Borrowing Statute of Limitations to an injury alleged to have arisen in a foreign state which would be barred in said foreign jurisdiction by the applicable local statute of limitations." Id. at 592-593 (footnote omitted).

On rehearing en banc, the Third District issued a Revised Opinion February 5, 1985, holding to the Original Opinion but specifically overruling Marano, 466 So.2d at 1103. There was, on rehearing, a 4-4 tie on the merits; and the Revised Opinion stood as the decision of the court. 466 So.2d at 1104, 1105 (Hubbart and Schwartz, JJ., dissenting).

The Third District majority rejected the Summary Judgment, basing its analysis of Florida's Borrowing Statute upon a comparison of the "last act rule" in Colhoun v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 265 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1972) ("a cause of action arises when the last act necessary to establish liability occurs") and the definition of "accrue" in Section 95.031(1), Florida Statutes (1975): "A cause of action accrues when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs."

Thus, to ascertain the meaning of the phrase "where the last act necessary to establish liability occurred" - that is, where the cause of action arose - we may properly look to the meaning of its equivalent, "when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs" - that is, when the cause of action accrued. It being clear that "the accrual [of a cause of action] must coincide with the aggrieved party's discovery or duty to discover the act constituting an invasion of his legal rights," a cause of action in tort arises when the plaintiff knew or should have known of the existence of the cause of action or the invasion of his legal rights.

466 So.2d at 1102 (citations and footnotes omitted).

Judge Schwartz, dissenting, disagreed:

In short, by mechanically, but wholly inappropriately, transposing statutory expressions from settings in which their use was immaterial to another, vastly different one, the court has succeeded in applying a Florida statute of limitations concept, dealing with the accrual of a cause of action, so as to breathe life into a foreign cause of action which has long been moribund under the statute of limitations of the state where the tort was

committed. But section 95.10 makes the New York, not the Florida, statute of limitations determinative.

466 So.2d at 1107 (emphasis in original).

On Motion for Clarification and Certification the court certified the correct interpretation of Florida's Borrowing Statute to this Court, 466 So.2d 1107 (Hubbart, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part):

May an action which could not be maintained by reason of limitations in the state in which the allegedly wrongful conduct occurred because that state does not recognize postponement of accrual until discovery, nonetheless be maintained in Florida because Florida postpones accrual until discovery?

Meehan v. The Celotex Corp., 466 So.2d 1100, 1107 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. granted, No. 66,937 (Fla. April 29, 1985).

(A. 1) The Third District certified the identical question to this Court in Nance, after deciding Nance upon its analysis in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As this case is on appeal from the Summary Judgment, the facts are stated in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff.

Respondent Carmella Meehan ("Meehan" or "Plaintiff") is the widow and personal representative of the Estate of Charles Francis Meehan ("Mr. Meehan") and was the Plaintiff below. Petitioners, including GAF Corporation ("GAF"), allegedly manufactured the asbestos-containing

products to which Mr. Meehan was exposed, and were Defendants in Plaintiff's original Complaint.

Mr. Meehan was born on May 9, 1909 in Brooklyn, New York (R. 443), where he lived and worked until 1969, when he and his wife moved to Florida (R. 443). From 1942 through 1944 Mr. Meehan worked at the Brooklyn Navy Yard as a pipefitter (R. 292), where he was exposed to asbestos products. Mr. Meehan's only exposure to such products occurred in New York from 1942 through 1944 (R. 292, 336). Mr. Meehan contracted asbestosis and mesothelioma as a result of this exposure, and such exposure was the proximate cause of his death in 1978 at the age of 70 (R. 215, 520). This action was not brought until July 31, 1979 (R. 1-8).

It is undisputed that the <u>injury</u> on which Plaintiff's claim is based occurred from 1942 through 1944 when Mr. Meehan was working in the Brooklyn Navy Yard. In her sworn answers to interrogatories of The Celotex Corporation, Plaintiff responded:

For the purposes of this action, on what date do you contend the decedent was <u>injured</u> as a result of [the Defendant's] conduct? (Emphasis supplied).

<u>ANSWER</u>: 1942 through 1944.

(R. 336; A. 17).

Under the New York statute of limitations
Mr. Meehan's cause of action expired in 1947. See N.Y. Civ.
Prac. Law § 214(5) (McKinney 1981). New York, unlike
Florida, does not postpone until discovery the commencement

of the running of the statute of limitations. Steinhardt \underline{v} . Johns-Manville Corp., infra.

GAF is a Delaware corporation whose principal place of business is in New Jersey. The acts of GAF of which Meehan complains arise from the alleged delivery of asbestos-containing products into New York over thirty years ago.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's Borrowing Statute bars a plaintiff who is injured by exposure to asbestos-containing products in one state from maintaining an action in Florida when his claim is time-barred in the state where the wrongful acts and injury occurred. The claim which once existed and was barred cannot be revived in Florida.

Discovery is not an element of a cause of action; it need not be pleaded or alleged. The Third District's analysis of the "last act" rule in <u>Colhoun v. Greyhound Lines</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 265 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1972) was erroneous. A cause of action clearly can exist prior to its discovery by a plaintiff.

The Legislature clearly intended consideration of the <u>place</u> where a cause of action "arose" to govern operation of the Borrowing Statute, not the <u>time</u> when a cause of action "accrued." To hold that a plaintiff whose claim was barred in a non-discovery rule state can "discover" his cause of action in this state for the purpose of filing his

out-of-state claim here would directly contravene the legislative policies underlying the adoption of the Borrowing Statute.

Because under New York law Mr. Meehan's claim for personal injuries is barred, there is no claim either for personal injuries or for wrongful death cognizable by the courts of this state.

ARGUMENT

The certified question in effect asks whether a person injured by exposure to asbestos-containing products in one state, whose claim arose and has expired in that state because of the running of time, can move to Florida and maintain a "second" claim based upon discovery of his injury in Florida. In other words, whether Florida's "discovery rule" can be construed so as to revive a barred claim.

I. FLORIDA'S BORROWING STATUTE BARRED MR.
MEEHAN FROM MAINTAINING A CLAIM IN
FLORIDA BECAUSE HIS CLAIM AROSE IN NEW
YORK UPON EXPOSURE TO ASBESTOS FROM 1942
TO 1944 AND WAS BARRED BY NEW YORK'S STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN 1947

Florida's Borrowing Statute bars an action in Florida which "arose" in another state and is barred by that state's limitations law. The Statute sets forth a simple two step process:

1. Did a cause of action arise in another state?

2. Does that state's limitations law bar the action?

If the answers to these questions are "yes", then no action may be maintained in Florida. The application of the statute to Mr. Meehan therefore should be as follows:

- Q. Did Mr. Meehan's cause of action arise in another state?
- Mr. Meehan worked in the Brooklyn Navy Α. Yes. Yard where he inhaled asbestos fibers which became imbedded in his lungs and the original injury to his body occurred. There is no evidence (nor any allegation) that he was exposed to any of Defendants' asbestos products outside of New York, and Plaintiff admits Mr. Meehan's injury occurred in New York. (A. 17). Mr. Meehan could have maintained an action on this tort in New York. Steinhardt v. Johns-Manville Corp., 78 A.D. 2d 577, 432 N.Y.S.2d 422 (N.Y. 4th Dept. 1980), aff'd, 54 N.Y. 2d 1008, 446 N.Y.S.2d 244 430 N.E.2d 1297 (N.Y. 1981), cert. denied and app. dismissed, sub. nom., Rosenberg v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 456 U.S. 967, 102 S.Ct. 2226, 72 L.Ed.2d 840 (1982) (App. 19) confirmed New York law as holding that injury occurs and the New York statute of limitations begins to run upon exposure to and inhalation of asbestos fibers. There thus is no genuine issue as to the fact that Mr. Meehan's cause of action for an asbestos injury arose in New York when he was exposed to and inhaled asbestos fibers in that state from 1942 through 1944.

- Q. Does New York's limitations law bar Meehan's action in New York?
- A. Yes. Mr. Meehan's last exposure to asbestos was in 1944. The trial court correctly held (R. 1130) and <u>Steinhardt</u> confirms that New York's three-year statute of limitations would bar Meehan's action in New York. The statute provides:

The following actions must be commenced within three years:

* * *

- 5. an action to recover damages for a personal injury . . .
- N.Y. Civ. Prac. Law § 214(5) (McKinney 1981). New York, unlike Florida, does not recognize a "discovery rule".

Because the answers to the two questions are "yes", Meehan's action is barred by the Borrowing Statute in Florida. Mr. Meehan had a cause of action in New York in 1944; New York law barred Mr. Meehan's claim in 1947; and the Borrowing Statute therefore bars Meehan's claim in Florida.

II. MEEHAN CANNOT MAINTAIN A CLAIM IN FLORIDA BECAUSE DISCOVERY OF INJURY IN FLORIDA CANNOT CREATE A "SECOND" CAUSE OF ACTION

Under New York law Mr. Meehan had a "New York" cause of action upon his exposure to and inhalation of asbestos fibers. This cause of action was barred in 1947.

The Third District attempted to establish a "Florida" claim for Meehan which is not barred by New York

law. 2/ There is no precedent for such a "second" cause of action, which is contrary to basic principles of law. The injury -- the impact -- was in New York. The causation was in New York. The tort, therefore, was in New York. There was then a "New York" cause of action and only a New York cause of action.

The Third District's "second" cause of action was based on its conclusion in Meehan that "a cause of action in tort arises when the plaintiff knew or should have known of the existence of the cause of action or the invasion of his legal rights." 466 So.2d at 1102. The court thus treated discovery of the cause of action as one of its elements. That is not the law in Florida. "Discovery" is a facet of the statute of limitations (when it starts running), not an element of a tort cause of action. Florida does not require a plaintiff to plead "discovery" of his injury or his cause of action -- discovery is not and never has been an element of a cause of action. A "second" cause of action simply does not "arise" upon "discovery" of injury in Florida.

The operation of a statute of limitations is an affirmative defense which the defendant must plead, or it is waived. Plaintiff may then seek to avoid the defense by a reply. Proctor v. Schomberg, 63 So.2d 68, 71 (Fla. 1953)

^{2/} Of course if there were a "Florida" cause of action, Florida's Borrowing Statute would simply be inapplicable, since that Statute applies to causes of action which arose in a foreign state. But there is no "Florida" cause of action, only a "New York" cause of action. The Third District so recognized in invoking the Borrowing Statute in the first place.

(patient need not plead fraudulent concealment of dentist's negligent treatment until statute of limitations was pleaded as an affirmative defense); Young v. Williamson, 169 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964) (client was under no duty to negative possible application of statute of limitation in action on negligent title opinion preparation until defendant attorney pleaded the statute as affirmative defense). See Hammonds v. Buckeye Cellulose Corp., 285 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 1973) ("A complaint need only state facts sufficient to indicate that a cause of action exists and need not anticipate affirmative defenses."); Glass v. Camera, 369 So.2d 625, 628 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (discussing which party has the burden of showing waiver or tolling of statute of limitations after the statute of limitations is raised by defendant as affirmative defense).

Colhoun v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 265 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1972) is simply inappropriate and the Third District's reliance thereon was simply error. In fact, Colhoun stands for the reverse proposition, that all components of the tort took place in New York and that New York law should have been applied. Colhoun held that "a cause of action sounding in tort arises in the jurisdiction where the last act necessary to establish liability occurred." Id. at 21. Colhoun was injured in Tennessee when the Greyhound bus she was traveling on became involved in an accident. Colhoun held

the borrowing statute barred the tort cause of action because it arose and was barred in Tennessee where the accident occurred, but the borrowing statute was inapplicable to her contract claim because the contract was completed and therefore the claim arose in Florida. <u>Id</u>. The last act rule in <u>Colhoun</u> focuses attention on the "last act necessary to establish liability" -- discovery was not an issue.

In its analysis below, the Third District compared <u>Colhoun's</u> last act rule with the definition of "accrue" in Section 95.031(1), Florida Statutes (1975): "A cause of action accrues when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs":

Thus, to ascertain the meaning of the phrase "where the last act necessary to establish liability occurred" - that is, where the cause of action arose - we may properly look to the meaning of its equivalent, "when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs" - that is, when the cause of action accrued. It being clear that "the accrual [of a cause of action] must coincide with the aggrieved party's discovery or duty to discover the act constituting an invasion of his legal rights," a cause of action in tort arises when the plaintiff knew or should have known of the existence of the cause of action or the invasion of his legal rights.

466 So.2d at 1102 (citations and footnotes omitted).

The discovery rule, however, modifies or affects the <u>computation of time</u> for limitations purposes. The cases adopting it deal with the term "accrued" in Section 95.031. That section provides that the limitations period begins to run "from the time the cause of action accrues," which is

defined as "when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs." "Accrual" of a cause of action as applied for purposes of computation of time, however, clearly involves considerations wholly different from those which apply in determining the <u>place</u> the cause of action arose for Borrowing Statute purposes. The majority of the Third District, however, failed to recognize this distinction in its analysis.

Some courts interpreting the discovery rule have correctly acknowledged this exception to or modification of the statutory use of the word "accrue." As this Court stated in <u>Creviston v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 225 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1969):

We reach [the] conclusion [that the statute of limitations begins to run from the time Petitioner first discovered, or reasonably should have discovered the defect constituting the breach of warranty] because an arbitrary determination that a cause of action accrues and the statute runs on a products liability injury from the date of sale appears illogical with respect to a latently defective product where the defect is not known and cannot be known at the time of sale.

This distinction is furthered by comparing <u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954) with <u>Cristiani v. City of Sarasota</u>, 65 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1953). In <u>Brooks</u> this Court applied the discovery rule to postpone the running of the statute of limitations when plaintiff's injury from an overdose of x-rays was not apparent until five years later. The Court stated that "the statute attaches when there has

been notice of an invasion of the legal right of the plaintiff or he has been put on notice of his cause of action." 70 So.2d at 309 (emphasis added). Because Brooks did not realize the x-ray treatment of her foot was negligently performed, her statute of limitations was tolled by the discovery rule until she had notice of the negligent act, through manifestation of symptoms. In Cristiani, the plaintiff had notice of the negligent driving of the truck at the time of the accident. The statute was not tolled and plaintiff could not maintain an action to recover for blindness which occurred eighteen months after the accident and after the statute had run. 65 So.2d at 878-879. Though in both cases the event upon which the statute began to run was called "accrual," in Brooks "accrual" was upon discovery of the consequences of the act, while in Cristiani accrual was at the time of the act. In Brooks a cause of action existed of which the plaintiff was unaware, and "accrual" was postponed for limitations purposes by the discovery rule.

Downing v. Vaine, 228 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969) analyzed the applicability of the discovery rule to attorney malpractice actions, and also recognized the arising of a cause of action prior to its accrual for limitations purposes. In discussing "accrual" of plaintiff's cause of action, the court stated: [The plaintiff] had no knowledge of the fact that a cause of action [already] had

<u>accrued in his favor</u> against his attorney until his action . . . was dismissed and he was so notified"

Id. at 627 (emphasis added).

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