IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APPEAL NO. 66,937

)

)

)

)

)

)

THE CELOTEX CORPORATION, ET AL,

Petitioners.

Versus

CARMELLA MEEHAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate) of Charles Meehan, Deceased

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT AS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

> ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT CARMELLA MEEHAN

> > BARON & BUDD A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION 8333 Douglas Avenue, 10th Floor Dallas, Texas 75225 214/369-3605

LOUIS S. ROBLES, ESQ. ATTORNEY AT LAW 75 S.W. 8th Street, Suite 401 Miami, Florida 33130 305/371-5944

Attorneys for Respondent Carmella Meehan

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

Florida courts have long adhered to the rule that they are under no compulsion to enforce foreign laws which are grossly at odds with the laws and policies of Florida. Wilkinson v. Manpower, Inc., 531 F.2d 712 (5th Cir. 1976). Yet the application of New York's statute of limitations to the present case would be repugnant to Florida's well established policy that a cause of action involving a latent injury does not arise until the plaintiff knew or should have known of the facts giving rise to the underlying cause of action. This policy, reflected both in Florida's case law, see, e.g., Celotex v. Copeland, supra; City of Miami v. Brooks, supra; Diamond v. E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981), and its statutory law, FLA.STAT. \$95.031(2) (1977) (statutory adoption of the discovery rule), should not be abandoned in the instant case. Respondent's interpretation of the Florida borrowing statute is in harmony with this essential principle of Florida law.

III. RESPONDENT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE FLORIDA BORROWING STATUTE IS CONSISTENT WITH FLORIDA'S "SIGNIFICANT INTEREST" ANALYSIS IN CHOICE OF LAW QUESTIONS.

It has been clearly demonstrated that the Florida borrowing statute has no application to this case under Florida's traditional place of injury rule. That this is true becomes even more apparent when the issue is examined in light of this Court's adoption of the "significant interest" analysis for choice of law questions. In <u>Bishop v. Florida Specialty Paint Company</u>, 389 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1980), this Court rejected the traditional <u>lex</u> <u>loci delicti</u> rule for resolution of choice of law problems in tort actions in favor of the "significant relationships" tests advocated by the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws. Section 146 of the Restatement (Second) provides:

In an action for a personal injury, the local law of the state where the injury occurred determines the rights and liabilities of the parties, unless, with respect to the particular issue, some other state has a more significant relationship under the principles stated in §6 to the occurrence and the parties, in which event the local law of the other state will be applied.

Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §146 (1971). Another Restatement provision enumerates the relevant contacts to consider in a choice of law question involving personal injury:

- (a) the place where the injury occurred,
- (b) the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred;
- (c) the domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties; and
- (e) the place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered.

Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §145 (1971).

In <u>Bishop</u>, this Court noted that the place of injury would remain as the decisive factor in most cases and reaffirmed this State's interest in "certainty, predictability and uniformity of result." Still, this Court characterized the traditional place of injury rule as "inflexible" and rejected its application to a case where the "happenstance" of the accident is the only connection with the State whose law is to be applied.

The <u>Bishop</u> case involved a choice of substantive law, while the issue at bar concerns statutes of limitation, generally considered a procedural matter and not subject to choice of law analysis. <u>See Pledger v. Burnup & Sims, Inc.</u>, 432 So.2d 1323 (Fla.4th DCA 1983). There is a decided trend in the law, however, to recognize that statutes of limitation are often outcome determinative and to treat such statutes as substantive, and therefore as subject to a full choice of law analysis.⁴ R. Weintraub, Commentary on the Conflict of Laws 62 (2d ed. 1980). <u>See also</u>, Morley, Applying the Significant Relationship Test to Florida's Borrowing Statute, Florida Bar Journal, July/August (1985).

⁴Both Judge Peason in footnote one of his revised opinion in <u>Meehan</u>, and Judge Schwartz in his dissenting opinion recognize the potentially substantive nature of the statute of limitations issue in the choice of law context. Neither, however, conducts a full "significant relationships" analysis upon the facts of this case. Judge Schwartz erroneously assumes, without analysis, that New York substantive law would apply in this case. <u>Meehan</u> 466 So.2d at 1106. Such is not the case, as is set forth in this section of Respondent's brief.

If the "significant relationship" test is applied to the case at hand, it becomes clear that the law of Florida, not that of New York, is controlling here. For, the only connection with the State of New York in this case is the "happenstance" of Mr. Meehan's exposure to asbestos products. All other contacts are with the State of Florida or a third state. The considerations set forth in §145 of the Restatement are discussed in turn:

(a) The place where the injury occurred. ⁵

As discussed in Section I, above, the injury in this case occurred in <u>Florida</u>. There is no evidence that Mr. Meehan had cancer in New York prior to moving to Florida. He lived in Florida for seven years before he developed mesothelioma and died in this State within a year of its onset.

(b) The place where the conduct causing the injury occurred.

This case was brought under theories of strict liability, failure to warn, implied warranty and negligence. Thus, the wrongful conduct giving rise to this action took place in the states where the manufacturing and marketing of the asbestos-containing products was carried forth. Such conduct occurred in a number of states including Pennsylvania (Pittsburgh Corning Corporation), Ohio (Philip Carey Corporation and Owens-Illinois, Inc.), Missouri (Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc.) and <u>Florida</u> (The Celotex Corporation).

⁵Under <u>Bishop</u>, the place of injury will most often be decisive, in determining where a cause of action arose, as this Court admonished:

The conflicts theory set out in the Restatement does not reject the "place of the injury" rule completely. The state where the injury occurred would, under most circumstances, be the decisive consideration in determining the applicable choice of law.

Bishop 389 So.2d at 1001.

(c) <u>The domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties.</u>

Mrs. Meehan is presently a resident of <u>Florida</u> and she and her husband were residents of Florida for nine years prior to the filing of this lawsuit. Petitioner The Celotex Corporation is also a <u>Florida</u> resident. All of the other asbestos manufacturers that were party to this suit are either "doing business" in Florida under FLA.STAT. §607.304 (1977) or maintain registered agents in this state.

(d) <u>The place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered.</u>

Mr. Meehan was exposed to the Petitioner's asbestos products in New York from 1942 to 1945.

The happenstance of Mr. Meehan's exposure to asbestos products in New York is effectively underscored when it is understood that in most cases involving latent disease as a result of asbestos exposure, the plaintiff will have been exposed to asbestos in more than one state. If it is determined that a cause of action for asbestos disease arises upon exposure to asbestos, how can a court determine in which of several states the cause of action arose? A "significant contacts" analysis eliminates confusion in this regard and thereby provides the predictability and uniformity or result that concerned this Court in Bishop. Problems arising when the significant contacts rule is not applied is exemplified by the Wyoming case of Duke v. Housen, 589 P.2d 334 (Wyo. 1979). Duke was a negligence action against a Wyoming citizen who had knowingly infected a woman with gonorrhea which later developed into a severe injury. The Wyoming Supreme Court was faced with the issue of where the cause of action arose under the traditional place of injury rule for purposes of the

-27-

Wyoming borrowing statute. The couple had engaged in intercourse in several states and the doctor's diagnosis of gonorrhea was made in yet another. Members of the court agreed that under the laws of Wyoming, the cause of action did not arise in the forum state (the plaintiff was not a Wyoming resident and had not visited the state), but disagreed as to the place where the action did arise. Although the majority concluded that under the laws of New York, the action arose in New York where the last "exposure" took place, Id. at 345-47, the concurring justice argued that under the laws of Wyoming and of Washington, D.C., the action arose in Washington, D.C. where the plaintiff received a doctor's diagnosis of her condition. Id. at 353-54. (The dissent argued for yet another location, Id. at 354.) Had the Duke court approached the issue from an interest analysis standpoint, it would have been clear that the law of Washington, D.C. Although no exposure occurred there, the plaintiff applied. lived there and received a doctor's diagnosis of her condition in that jurisdiction. Neither party had any affiliation with the State of New York other than two fortuitous "meetings" in that state. Only the District of Columbia had a real interest in the Interest analysis would have avoided this confusion. case.

ļ

1

l

I

Another difficult problem arises in latent disease cases when the plaintiff lives in one jurisdiction but receives a doctor's diagnosis in another. Unlike New York, many states hold that a plaintiff's cause of action accrues at the date of a doctor's diagnosis. <u>Fusco v. Johns-Manville Products Corp.</u>, 643

-28-

F.2d 1181 (5th Cir. 1981); Karjala v. Johns-Manville Products Corp., 523 F.2d 155 (8th Cir. 1975); Nolan v. Johns-Manville Asbestos & Magnesia Materials Co., 74 Ill.App.3d 778, 392 N.E.2d 1352 (1979), aff'd, 85 Ill.2d 161 (1981). Where the traditional place of injury rule is applied in such a case, it may lead to the anomalous result that the statute of limitations of the state in which the physician resides is applied to a cause of action which has no other significant ties to that jurisdiction. In this instance, the place of injury rule could actually become an invitation to forum shopping. A potential plaintiff suffering from latent disease could extend the limitations period applicable to his cause of action by traveling to a particular state with a favorable statute to receive his doctor's diagnosis. Interest analysis, on the other hand, would also consider the plaintiff's residence in a determination of which state's statute to apply and would thereby reduce the potential for abuse.

In fact, since this Court's adoption of the significant contacts test in <u>Bishop</u> Florida courts have regularly emphasized the residence of the parties in deciding choice of laws issues in tort cases. <u>See, e.g., Krasnosky v. Meredith</u>, 447 So.2d 232 (Fla.1st DCA 1983) (applying Florida law where Florida residents were involved in an accident in Georgia); <u>Proprietors Insurance</u> <u>Co. v. Valsecchi</u>, 435 So.2d 290 (Fla.3d DCA 1983) (applying Florida law where temporary residents of Florida were involved in an accident in North Carolina); <u>Harris v. Berkowitz</u>, 433 So.2d 613 (Fla.3d DCA 1983) (applying Florida law where Florida resi-

-29-

dents were involved in an accident in Maine); <u>See also, Watts v.</u> <u>National Insurance Underwriters</u>, 540 F.Supp. 488 (S.D. Fla. 1982) (applying Florida law where Florida citizens were involved in an accident in Louisiana). In each of these cases, of central importance was the interest of this State in protecting its citizens according to Florida law. As the Third Circuit wrote in the Harris case:

In a situation such as the one under consideration where decedent's beneficiaries and litigants are from a particular state, the law of that state determines the measure of wrongful death damages.

Harris, 433 So.2d at 614.

Moreover, application of Florida law to the issue of statute of limitations will promote the policies of this state. Professor Weintraub has devised the following test for application in tort cases where a "true conflict" exists:

2. "True Conflict" cases: If two or more states having contacts with the parties or the transaction will have the policies underlying their different tort rules advanced, apply the law that will favor the plaintiff unless one or both of the following facts is present:

- a. That law is anachronistic or aberrational.
- b. The state with that law does not have sufficient contact with the defendant or the defendants actual or intended course of conduct to make application of its law reasonable.

R. Weintraub, Commentary on the Conflict of Laws 346 (2d ed. 1980). Under this approach, Florida's law controls in this case.
First, Florida's law will favor the plaintiff. Further, it is
New York's law rather than Florida's which is anachronistic.
Finally, Florida has sufficient contact with all the defendants
that the application of Florida law to the instant case is

completely reasonable. (Indeed, the Celotex Corporation is itself a resident of this State). As Professor Weintraub explains, a choice of law rule must operate in accordance with the prevailing trend in tort law. Id. at 270. That trend is toward "distribution rather than concentration of losses, through the device of liability insurance." Id. Further, a manufacturer selling its products for national distribution can easily foresee that its activities in one state may give courts in another state reasonable interest in applying their own state law to the manufacturer in a case involving a resident-plaintiff. No element of unfair surprise is raised in the instant case. Id. at 339. Moreover, as discussed above, Florida has expressly decided policy that its citizens should not be denied a day in court on the basis of statute of limitations before the facts giving rise to their cause of action were known or should have been known. Celotex v. Copeland, supra.

Abandonment of the place of injury rule in choice of law questions involving statutes of limitations was urged as early as 1966 by Judge Freedman dissenting in <u>Mack Trucks</u>, 372 F.2d at 21-26. Judge Freedman refused to be bound in his analysis by the traditional classification of statutes of limitation as procedural; instead, he reasoned: "Indeed, while limitations of action may fall under the heading of procedure, to the litigant a determination that his suit is completely barred by the statute of limitations is substantively far more drastic and important than a ruling on the extent of his right to [damages]." Id. at

-31-

24. "[T]he decision as to when [a] claim should be barred," argued Judge Freedman, should "be governed by the policy of the jurisdiction with the most significant interest in the claim, the jurisdiction in which the 'cause of action' 'arose'." <u>Id.</u> at 25. <u>See also Wyatt v. United Airlines, Inc.</u>, 638 P.2d 812, 814 (Colo.Ct.App. 1981) (in which the dissent argued that for purposes of the Colorado borrowing statute, "the first determination that must be made is where the most significant relationships do lie" and then, that the state found to have the most significant relationship to the litigation should be deemed the one in which the claim arose).

Although Judge Freedman's approach has been considered and rejected by some courts, <u>e.g. Elmore v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.</u>, 673 S.W.2d 434 (Mo. banc 1984); <u>Wyatt</u>, 638 P.2d 812; <u>Parish v. B.F.</u> <u>Goodrich Co.</u>, 235 N.W.2d 570, 575 (Mich. 1975), other courts have adopted the "significant interest" analysis to resolve statutory interpretation questions under a state's borrowing statute.⁶ <u>E.g. Ellis v. Great Southwestern Corp.</u>, 646 F.2d 1099 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>Mitchell v. United Asbestos Corp.</u>, 100 Ill.App.3d 485, 426 N.E.2d 350 (Ill.App.Ct. 1981); <u>Icelandic Airlines, Inc. v.</u> <u>Canadair, Ltd.</u>, 104 Misc.2d 239, 428 N.Y.S.2d 393 (N.Y.Sup.Ct. 1980); <u>Myers v. Cessna Aircraft Corp.</u>, 275 Or. 501, 553 P.2d 355

-32-

⁶Although New Jersey has no borrowing statute, courts in that state nonetheless follow an interest analysis approach to determine which statute of limitations applies in interstate tort actions. <u>See Heavner v. Uniroyal, Inc.</u>, 63 N.J. 130, 305 A.2d 412 (N.J. 1973).

(Or. 1976). These courts all followed the Restatement approach to statutes of limitation in choice of law questions reasoning that "an action will be barred by the statute of limitations of a non-forum jurisdiction only if that jurisdiction is the state of the otherwise applicable law and the statute in that state bars the right as well as the remedy." <u>Myers</u>, 553 P.2d at 355 citing Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §§142-143 (1972).

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